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In the United States District Court
FOR THE Central DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
	B. L., a minor, and O. L., by and through ANDRES L., their guardian ad litem; E. G., a minor, by and through MARIA G., her guardian ad litem; D. A., a minor, by and through ROSARIO A., his guardian ad litem; A. M., a minor, by and through JOSEFINA M., his guardian ad litem, and the CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION FOR PARENT-CHILD ADVOCACY,

Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated,


v.

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION; Jack o’Connell, State Superintendent of Public Instruction, in his official capacity; MONTEBELLO unified school district; EDWARD VELASQUEZ, Superintendent of the Montebello Unified School District, in his official capacity; RICHARD L. ADAMS II, President, Montebello Unified School District Board of Education, in his official capacity; EDWIN CHAU, Vice President, Montebello Unified School District Board of Education, in his official capacity; MARCELLA CALDERON, GERRI GUZMAN, AND HECTOR A. CHACON, Members, Montebello Unified School District Board of Education, in their official capacities; DOWNEY/MONTEBELLO SPECIAL EDUCATION LOCAL PLAN AREA; TIM MCNULTY, Director, Downey/Montebello Special Education Local Plan Area, in his official capacity; LOS ANGELES COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION; DARLINE P. ROBLES, Los Angeles County Superintendent of Schools, in her official capacity, 
Defendants.
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	Case No. 
Class Action Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief

[Civil Rights – Disability Discrimination]




Plaintiffs B. L., O. L., E. G., D. A., A. M., AND the CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION FOR PARENT-CHILD ADVOCACY allege as follows:

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter and the parties pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1367, 2201, and 2202.  Plaintiffs bring this suit under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”), 20 U.S.C. §§ 1400 et seq., the California Education Code, Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12132 et seq., Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (“Section 504”), 29 U.S.C. § 794, and the California Government Code.

2. Venue is proper in the Central District of California pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because events giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in this District.

INTRODUCTION


3.


This is an action for relief from Defendants’ violation of Plaintiffs’ rights under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the California Education Code, and the California Government Code. 
4. Plaintiffs are students with disabilities who are eligible to receive special education and related services
 from the Defendants, and who are otherwise qualified to participate in programs, services, and activities offered by the Defendants.  This case arises out of the Defendants’ failure and to provide the Plaintiffs with access to certain critical special education programs—programs designed to help them transition between the security and structure of school and the complexity of service options and resources available for individuals with disabilities in the adult community—to which Plaintiffs are entitled by federal and state law.  Because of the Defendants’ repeated failures to provide and ensure access to transition planning and services, Plaintiffs have lost and will continue to lose valuable instructional, vocational, independent living, and other opportunities.  As a result of these ongoing and repeated violations of federal and state disability rights laws, Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students will be denied a successful transition from secondary education to adult life—a transition that maximizes economic and social independence in the least restrictive environment appropriate.  
5. Defendants CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION (“CDE”), JACK O’CONNELL, MONTEBELLO UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT (“MUSD”), EDWARD VELASQUEZ, RICHARD L. ADAMS II, EDWIN CHAU, MARCELLA CALDERON, GERRI GUZMAN, HECTOR A. CHACON, DOWNEY/MONTEBELLO SPECIAL EDUCATION LOCAL PLAN AREA (“DMSELPA”), TIM MCNULTY, LOS ANGELES COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION (“LACOE”), and DARLINE P. ROBLES, and each of them, have repeatedly denied Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students the special education transition services to which they are entitled under federal and state law.  Additionally, Defendants have illegally discriminated against Plaintiffs and other students on the basis of disability by, among other things, denying them access to programs, services, and activities for which they are otherwise qualified.

6. Plaintiffs seek declaratory and injunctive relief, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, for Defendants’ violations of their rights.
PARTIES

7. Plaintiff B. L. is a child with a disability within the meaning of the IDEA and is a qualified person with a disability within the meaning of the ADA and Section 504.  Plaintiff B. L. is eligible to receive and receives special education and related services from the MUSD.  Plaintiff B. L., and his guardian ad litem ANDRES L., are residents of Los Angeles County and the State of California.

8. Plaintiff O. L. is a child with a disability within the meaning of the IDEA and is a qualified person with a disability within the meaning of the ADA and Section 504.  Plaintiff O. L. is eligible to receive and receives special education and related services from the MUSD.  Plaintiff O. L., and his guardian ad litem ANDRES L., are residents of Los Angeles County and the State of California.

9.


Plaintiff E. G. is a child with a disability within the meaning of the IDEA and is a qualified person with a disability within the meaning of the ADA and Section 504.  Plaintiff E. G. is eligible to receive and receives special education and related services from the MUSD.  Plaintiff E. G., and her guardian ad litem MARIA G., are residents of Los Angeles County and the State of California.

10.
Plaintiff D. A. is a child with a disability within the meaning of the IDEA and is a qualified person with a disability within the meaning of the ADA and Section 504.  Plaintiff D. A. is eligible to receive and receives special education and related services from the MUSD.  Plaintiff D. A., and his guardian ad litem ROSARIO A., are residents of Los Angeles County and the State of California.

11.
Plaintiff A. M. is a child with a disability within the meaning of the IDEA and is a qualified person with a disability within the meaning of the ADA and Section 504.  Plaintiff A. M. is eligible to receive and receives special education and related services from the MUSD.  Plaintiff A. M., and his guardian ad litem JOSEFINA M., are residents of Los Angeles County and the State of California.

12.


Plaintiff CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION FOR PARENT-CHILD ADVOCACY (“CAPCA”) is an unincorporated association of parents of students with disabilities, advocates for students with disabilities, and attorneys for parents of students with disabilities formed to ensure and protect the legal rights of students with disabilities residing within the State of California.  Members of CAPCA are residents of the State of California, and reside throughout the state.
13.


Defendant CDE oversees California’s public school system, which is responsible for the education of more than seven million children and young adults in more than 9,000 schools, and is legally responsible for ensuring compliance with federal special education law and regulations within the California public school system.  Defendant CDE is a public entity within the meaning of Title II of the ADA.  Defendant CDE receives federal financial assistance and is covered by the Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act. 

14.


Defendant O’CONNELL is the chief of the CDE and California’s public school system, and is legally responsible for ensuring compliance with federal special education law and regulations within the California public school system.  Defendant O’CONNELL is legally responsible for the unlawful policies, practices, and procedures challenged herein, and has the authority and legal obligation to abolish these policies, practices, and procedures.  Defendant O’CONNELL is sued in his official capacity.

15.


Defendant MUSD is a local government agency, chartered and incorporated under state law, with responsibility for providing services to approximately 36,000 students at approximately 28 schools, and is legally responsible for ensuring compliance with federal special education law and regulations at these schools.  Defendant MUSD is a public entity within the meaning of Title II of the ADA.  Defendant MUSD receives federal financial assistance and is covered by Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act.

16.


Defendant VELASQUEZ is the Superintendent of Schools for the MUSD, and is legally responsible for ensuring compliance with federal special education law and regulations within the MUSD.  Defendant VELASQUEZ is legally responsible for the unlawful policies, practices, and procedures challenged herein, and has the authority and legal obligation to abolish these policies, practices, and procedures.  Defendant VELASQUEZ is sued in his official capacity.

17.


Defendant ADAMS is President of the Board of Education for the MUSD, and is legally responsible for ensuring compliance with federal special education law and regulations within the MUSD.  Defendant ADAMS is legally responsible for the unlawful policies, practices, and procedures challenged herein, and has the authority and legal obligation to abolish these policies, practices, and procedures.  Defendant ADAMS is sued in his official capacity.

18.


Defendant CHAU is Vice President of the Board of Education for the MUSD, and is legally responsible for ensuring compliance with federal special education law and regulations within the MUSD.  Defendant CHAU is legally responsible for the unlawful policies, practices, and procedures challenged herein, and has the authority and legal obligation to abolish these policies, practices, and procedures.  Defendant CHAU is sued in his official capacity.

19.


Defendant CALDERON is a Member of the Board of Education for the MUSD, and is legally responsible for ensuring compliance with federal special education law and regulations within the MUSD.  Defendant CALDERON is legally responsible for the unlawful policies, practices, and procedures challenged herein, and has the authority and legal obligation to abolish these policies, practices, and procedures.  Defendant CALDERON is sued in her official capacity.

20.


Defendant GUZMAN is a Member of the Board of Education for the MUSD, and is legally responsible for ensuring compliance with federal special education law and regulations within the MUSD.  Defendant GUZMAN is legally responsible for the unlawful policies, practices, and procedures challenged herein, and has the authority and legal obligation to abolish these policies, practices, and procedures.  Defendant GUZMAN is sued in her official capacity.

21.


Defendant CHACON is the Clerk of the Board of Education for the MUSD, and is legally responsible for ensuring compliance with federal special education law and regulations within the MUSD.  Defendant CHACON is legally responsible for the unlawful policies, practices, and procedures challenged herein, and has the authority and legal obligation to abolish these policies, practices, and procedures.  Defendant CHACON is sued in his official capacity.

22.


Defendant DMSELPA is a regional government agency, chartered and incorporated under state law, with responsibility for providing special education services to MUSD students eligible to receive such services, and is legally responsible for ensuring compliance with federal special education law and regulations at the schools it serves.  Defendant DMSELPA is a public entity within the meaning of Title II of the ADA.  Defendant DMSELPA receives federal financial assistance and is covered by Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act.

23.


Defendant TIM MCNULTY is the Director of DMSELPA, and is legally responsible for ensuring compliance with federal special education law and regulations within the DMSELPA.  Defendant MCNULTY is legally responsible for the unlawful policies, practices, and procedures challenged herein, and has the authority and legal obligation to abolish these policies, practices, and procedures.  Defendant MCNULTY is sued in his official capacity.

24.


Defendant LACOE is a regional government agency, chartered and incorporated under state law, which provides programs and services for teachers, administrators, parents, schools and the 81 school districts, with nearly 1.7 million students, in Los Angeles County.  LACOE also provides many education programs at these schools, and is legally responsible for ensuring compliance with federal special education law and regulations at the schools.  Defendant LACOE is a public entity within the meaning of Title II of the ADA.  Defendant LACOE receives federal financial assistance and is covered by Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act.

25.


Defendant ROBLES is the Superintendent of Schools for the LACOE, and is legally responsible for ensuring compliance with federal special education law and regulations within the LACOE.  Defendant ROBLES is legally responsible for the unlawful policies, practices, and procedures challenged herein, and has the authority and legal obligation to abolish these policies, practices, and procedures.  Defendant ROBLES is sued in her official capacity.
STATEMENT OF FACTS

26.


Plaintiff B. L. is a 16-year-old student who is currently receiving special education services from the MUSD.  Plaintiff B. L. has experienced, and continues to experience, the unlawful actions and inactions alleged herein.  As part of its provision of special education services to B. L., on February 22, 2005 the MUSD issued him a written Individualized Education Program (“IEP”) plan.

27.


Plaintiff O. L. is a 17-year-old student who is currently receiving special education services from the MUSD.  Plaintiff O. L. has experienced, and continues to experience, the unlawful actions and inactions alleged herein.  As part of its provision of special education services to O. L., on May 20, 2005 the MUSD issued him a written IEP plan.

28.


Plaintiff E. G. is a 16-year-old student who is currently receiving special education services from the MUSD.  Plaintiff E. G. has experienced, and continues to experience, the unlawful actions and inactions alleged herein.  As part of its provision of special education services to E. G., on December 16, 2004 the MUSD issued her a written IEP plan.

29.


Plaintiff D. A. is a 16-year-old student who is currently receiving special education services from the MUSD.  Plaintiff D. A. has experienced, and continues to experience, the unlawful actions and inactions alleged herein.  As part of its provision of special education services to D. A., on June 20, 2005 the MUSD issued him a written IEP plan.

30.


Plaintiff A. M. is a 17-year-old student who is currently receiving special education services from the MUSD.  Plaintiff A. M. has experienced, and continues to experience, the unlawful actions and inactions alleged herein.  As part of its provision of special education services to A. M., on April 28, 2005 the MUSD issued him a written IEP plan.

31.


Federal law in effect at the time Plaintiffs’ IEPs were issued imposed specific procedural and substantive requirements on school districts providing special education services:

(a)  School districts must include “transition services,” critical services and programs necessary to help students receiving special education services transition as seamlessly as possible from school to adult life, in the IEP of every qualifying student receiving special education services.
  20 U.S.C. 
 § 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(VIII) (formerly at § 1414(d)(1)(A)(vii)); 34 C.F.R. 

 § 300.320(b) (formerly at § 300.347); Cal Educ. Code § 56345(a)(8).
 

(b) School districts must provide adequate notice of any IEP meeting to the   student’s parent or guardian, and that notice must indicate the purpose of the meeting.  20 U.S.C. § 1414(b)(1); Cal Educ. Code § 56341.5(b), (c).  Where the purpose of the meeting will be to develop transition services, the notice must specifically indicate that this is the case.  34 C.F.R. 

 § 300.322(b)(2)(i) (formerly at § 300.345(b)); Cal Educ. Code § 56341.5(e).  
(c) School districts are required to invite the student with a disability to attend any IEP meeting that discusses transition services.  20 U.S.C. 

§ 1414(d)(1)(B)(vii); 34 C.F.R. § 300.321(b)(1) (formerly at 

§ 300.344(b)(1)); Cal. Educ. Code § 56341.5(e).  

(d) School districts must ensure the involvement and attendance of outside agencies at IEP meetings where transition planning is to take place.  20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(B); 34 C.F.R. § 300.321(b)(3) (formerly at 
  § 300.344(b)(3)(i)) Cal. Educ. Code § 56341.5(f).
(e) School districts must include in all IEPs, including IEPs containing transition planning, a statement of measurable annual goals, including academic and functional goals.  20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(II) (formerly at § 1414(d)(1)(A)(ii)); 34 C.F.R. § 320(a)(2); Cal. Educ. Code § 56345(a)(2).  All IEPs must also include a description of the manner in which the progress of the pupil toward meeting the annual goals, including postsecondary goals, will be measured.  20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(III) (formerly at § 1414(d)(1)(A)(viii)); 34 C.F.R. § 300.320(a)(3) (formerly at 

§ 300.47(a)(7)); Cal. Educ. Code § 56345(a)(3).  

(f)  School districts must base their provision of transition services on the academic, developmental, and functional needs of the individual child.  20 U.S.C. §§ 1401(34)(B); 1414(d)(3) (formerly at § 1414(d)(1)(A)(vii)); Cal. Educ. Code §§ 56341.1, 56345.1(a)(2).

(g) School districts must also consider the individual student’s strengths,   interests, and preferences when designing transition services.  20 U.S.C. 

 §§ 1401(34)(B) (formerly at § 1401(30)(B)), 1414(d)(3); 34 C.F.R. 

 §§ 300.43(a)(2) (formerly at § 300.29(a)(2)), 300.321(b)(2) (formerly at 

 § 300.344(b)(2)); Cal. Educ. Code § 56345.1(a)(2).

(h) School districts must include in all IEPs the projected date for beginning provision of services, including transition services, and the anticipated frequency, location, and duration of such services.  20 U.S.C. 

§ 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(VII) (formerly at § 1414(d)(1)(A)(vi)); 34 C.F.R. § 300.320(a)(7) (formerly at § 300.347(a)(6)); Cal. Educ. Code § 56345(a)(7).

(i) School districts must include in their IEPs a statement of vocational goals, based upon transition assessments related to training, education, employment, and independent living skills.  20 U.S.C. §§ 1401(34),  1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(VIII)(aa) (formerly at § 1414(d)(1)(A)(vii)); Cal. Educ. Code §§ 56345(a)(8)(A), 56345.1(a).  Where required by these goals, districts must provide vocational education services:  organized educational programs directly related to the preparation of students for paid or unpaid employment, or for additional preparation for a career.  20 U.S.C. 

      § 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(VIII)(bb); 34 C.F.R. § 300.39(b)(5) (formerly at 

 § 300.26(b)(5)); Cal. Educ. Code §§ 56345(a)(8)(B), 56345.1(a).  

32.
  

Under federal and state law, the CDE has the ultimate responsibility for ensuring the provision of appropriate transition planning and services and vocational education to all California children and youth with disabilities.  20 U.S.C. §§ 1412(a)(11), (15)(A), 1413; 34 C.F.R. § 300.600; Cal Gov’t Code § 7561; Cal. Educ. Code §§ 56120-56139.  “The IDEA imposes on the state an overarching responsibility to ensure that the rights created by the statute are protected, regardless of the actions of school districts.”  Cordero by Bates v. Pennsylvania Dept. of Educ., 795 F. Supp. 1352, 1361 (M.D. Pa. 1992); see also John T. v. Iowa Dept. of Educ., 258 F.3d 860, 864 (8th Cir. 2001); St. Tammany Sch. Board v. State of La., 142 F.3d 776, 784 (5th Cir. 1998); Gadsby by Gadsby v. Grasnick, 109 F.3d 940, 952 (4th Cir. 1997); Emma C. v. Eastin, No. C96-4179 TEH, 2001 WL 1180636, *1 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 4, 2001).
33.

The IEPs issued to Plaintiffs in 2004 and 2005, as well as those IEPs that have been issued to other similarly situated California students, do not comply with these federal and state law mandates.  The IEPs (a) did not incorporate transition planning where required by law; (b) did not invite students to their IEP meetings where transition planning would be discussed; (c) did not properly notify parents or guardians that transition planning would be discussed at IEP meetings; (d) did not invite outside agencies to IEP meetings where transition planning would be discussed or ensure their attendance; (e) did not identify measurable postsecondary goals or consider student needs or preferences regarding these goals; (f) did not indicate which transition services would be provided, or the frequency, location, and duration of such services; (g) did not actually provide transition services even where they might be identified in an IEP; and (h) did not include vocational goals or provide appropriate vocational education as part of the provision of transition services.  

34.

As a result of the violations of federal and state law described herein, Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students have been denied the appropriate transition planning and services for which they are qualified.  They are not receiving the services and programs they need, and to which they are entitled, to help them transition as seamlessly as possible from school to all aspects of adult life, including work experiences, further education, and independent living. These procedural and substantive violations of federal law have resulted and will result in numerous lost opportunities for Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students.  For example, the failure to inform the parents or guardians of Plaintiffs and similarly situated students that transition services will be discussed at an IEP meeting denies them the opportunity to prepare for the meeting by working with the student to assess goals, interests, and preferences, and by researching and/or contacting outside services providers.  The failure to invite Plaintiffs and similarly situated students to IEP meetings denies them the chance to participate in any meaningful discussion of their own preferences regarding future goals and transition needs.  The failure to provide meaningful assessments or to identify student strengths, interests, and measurable goals prevent parents and teachers from accurately evaluating where Plaintiffs and similarly situated students are in their development, and hence what options might be most appropriate to help ensure their continued development as adults.  And the failure to invite outside agencies that might provide services to the student in the future makes it highly unlikely that Plaintiffs and similarly situated students will receive appropriate services when they exit from their public school systems.  In sum, the violations of federal and state laws suffered by Plaintiffs and similarly situated California students all but deny them the chance to successfully transition from school to fulfilling adult life and livelihoods.
35. 

The Defendants CDE, JACK O’CONNELL, MUSD, EDWARD VELASQUEZ, RICHARD L. ADAMS II, EDWIN CHAU, MARCELLA CALDERON, GERRI GUZMAN, HECTOR A. CHACON, DMSELPA, MCNULTY, LACOE, and DARLENE P. ROBLES, and each of them, are responsible for the denial of appropriate transition planning and services to Plaintiffs and similarly situated students.  As a result, the Plaintiffs and similarly situated California students will not receive the instruction, related services, community experiences, development of employment and other post-school adult living objectives, assistance in the acquisition of daily living skills, and functional vocational evaluations to which they are entitled under the law.  As adults the Plaintiffs and similarly situated students will not receive all of the benefits attendant to the continuing programs and services they may utilize as adults, including post-secondary education, vocational education, integrated employment (including supported employment), continuing and adult education, adult services, independent living, or community participation. Defendants’ failure to ensure that these services are provided amounts to a policy of disability discrimination, in that their actions, or failures to act, bar and function to bar Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students from the transition and vocational programs for which they are qualified and to which they are otherwise entitled.  These systemwide and statewide denials and exclusions from crucial public school programs and services are unnecessary, discriminatory, and unlawful.  

ADMINISTRATIVE EXHAUSTION
36.


Pursuant to applicable federal and state law, on or about November 25, 2005, Plaintiffs filed a “Compliance Complaint,” pursuant to Cal. Code Regs. tit. 5 §§ 4600 et seq., with the CDE, alleging noncompliance by the MUSD and the LACOE with the IDEA and the California Education Code.

37.


On March 9, 2006, the CDE issued a “Compliance Complaint Report” in response to Plaintiffs’ complaint.  The report stated that some of the CDE’s investigation findings supported a finding of compliance with federal and state law, while others supported a finding of noncompliance.

38.


On April 12, 2006, Plaintiffs requested reconsideration of certain findings and conclusions contained in the CDE’s report, as well as reconsideration of the corrective actions to be required by the CDE.  Plaintiffs generally disputed the report’s findings that the MUSD, the LACOE, and the DMSELPA complied with federal or state law in any respect with regard to the allegations in Plaintiffs’ Compliance Complaint.  Plaintiffs also noted that the report failed to address several allegations of noncompliance contained in their complaint.

39.


On August 19, 2006, the CDE issued a “Reconsideration Report” in response to Plaintiffs’ request for reconsideration.  This report also stated that some of the CDE’s investigation findings supported a finding of compliance with federal and state law, while others supported a finding of noncompliance.  Plaintiffs received this report in August 2006.  Previously, on August 17, 2006, the CDE had issued another report describing Plaintiffs’ allegations.  This report also stated that some of the CDE’s investigation findings supported a finding of compliance with federal and state law, while others supported a finding of noncompliance.  The August 17 report was not forwarded to Plaintiffs until November 8, 2006.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

40.


Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and on behalf of a class of all those similarly situated pursuant to Rule 23(a) and (b)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

Definition.

41.


Plaintiffs seek to represent a class of all present and future California special education students who are eligible to receive transition or vocational services as part of special education services through an IEP but who have been denied such services or programs by defendants.
Numerosity.

42.


The class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impractical.  There are thousands of present and future students in California’s public school system that have been or will be denied appropriate transition or vocational planning and services as part of special education services.  Moreover, putative class members are not capable of being identified at this time, as the proposed class includes future California students who are qualified to receive transition or vocational services as part of special education services.  Further, the class is constantly in flux, with new students qualifying for transition or vocational services, while other students become ineligible for such services.

Adequacy of Representation.

43.


Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the class.  Plaintiffs intend to prosecute this action rigorously in order to secure remedies for the entire class.  Counsel of record for Plaintiffs are experienced in state and federal civil rights litigation and class actions, including systemic litigation challenging violations of the IDEA, the ADA, and the Rehabilitation Act.

Common Questions of Law and Fact.

44.


Common questions of law and fact predominate, and include whether Plaintiffs and similarly situated California students, their parents or guardians, and outside agencies that might provide services to Plaintiffs and other students are being denied the opportunity to participate in transition planning; whether Plaintiffs and similarly situated California students are being denied appropriate transition assessments; and whether Plaintiffs and similarly situated California students are being denied appropriate transition or vocational services by the Defendants.  

Typicality.

45.


The claims of Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the other putative class members.  Plaintiffs have been denied access to appropriate transition or vocational services for which they are qualified.  This is the same injury that members of the proposed class have suffered, are suffering, and—unless this Court grants relief—will continue to suffer.  Plaintiffs are members of the proposed class in that they are current students in California’s public school system that have been denied access to appropriate transition or vocational services for which they are qualified.

Injunctive and Declaratory Relief.

46.


Defendants have acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the class, thereby making appropriate final declaratory and injunctive relief with respect to the class as a whole under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(2).

Class Notice.

47.


Plaintiffs contemplate the eventual issuance of notice to the proposed class members that would set forth the subject and nature of the instant action. Defendants’ records may be used for assistance in the preparation of such notices. To the extent that any further notices may be required, Plaintiffs would contemplate the use of additional media and/or mailings.
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

Violations of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act

48.


Plaintiffs incorporate by reference as though fully set forth herein paragraphs 1 through 47 of this Complaint.

49.


Under applicable provisions of the IDEA, for any qualified student receiving special education and related services, all IEPs, “beginning not later than the first IEP to be in effect when the child is 16,” must include “appropriate measurable postsecondary goals” based on “transition assessments,” along with the transition services needed to assist the student in reaching these goals.  20 U.S.C. 

§ 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(VIII) (formerly at § 1414(d)(1)(A)(vii)); 34 C.F.R. § 300.320(b) (formerly at § 300.347(b)).  

 50.

The IDEA also requires that parents of students receiving special education and related services must be specially notified whenever the purpose of an IEP meeting will be to develop transition services.  34 C.F.R. § 300.322(b)(2)(i) (formerly at § 300.345(b)).  The students themselves must be invited to any IEP meeting that discusses transition services.  Id. at § 300.321(b)(1) (formerly at 

§ 300.344(b)(1)).  Outside agencies that may provide services as part of a student’s transition from school to adult life must also attend IEP meetings and otherwise be involved in providing transition services.  20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(B); 34 C.F.R. 

§ 300.321(b)(3) (formerly at § 300.344(b)(3)(i)).  

51.


The IDEA also requires that IEPs include a statement of measurable annual goals, including academic and functional goals, 20 U.S.C. 

§ 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(II) (formerly at § 1414(d)(1)(A)(ii)), and a description of the manner in which the progress of the pupil toward meeting the annual goals, including postsecondary goals, will be measured.  Id. at § 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(III).  

52.


The IDEA also requires that transition services must be provided based on the academic, developmental, and functional needs of the individual child.  Id. at 

§§ 1401(34)(B), 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(VIII) (formerly at § 1414(d)(3)), and that the individual student’s strengths, interests, and preferences must be considered when designing transition services.  Id. at § 1401(34)(B); 34 C.F.R. §§ 300.43(a)(2) (formerly at § 300.344(b)(2)).

53. The IDEA also requires that all IEPs must contain the projected date for beginning provision of transition services, and the anticipated frequency, location, and duration of such services.  20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(VII) (formerly at § 1414(d)(1)(A)(vi)); 34 C.F.R. § 300.320(a)(7) (formerly at 

§ 300.347(a)(6)).

54.


The IDEA also requires that all IEPs describing transition services must contain a statement of vocational goals, based upon transition assessments related to training, education, employment, and, independent living skills.  20 U.S.C. §§ 1401(34) (formerly at § 1401(30)(A)), 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(VIII)(aa) (formerly at § 1414(d)(1)(A)(vii)).  Where required by these goals, districts must provide vocational education services:  organized educational programs directly related to the preparation of students for paid or unpaid employment, or for additional preparation for a career.  20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(VIII)(bb); 34 C.F.R. § 300.39(b)(5) (formerly at § 300.26(b)(5)).

55.


Defendants have violated the IDEA and its regulations by, inter alia:  (a) failing to ensure that Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students were issued IEPs that contained statements of transition needs and services; (b) failing to ensure that Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students were invited to IEP meetings where transition planning would be discussed; (c) failing to ensure that parents or guardians were properly notified that transition planning would be discussed at IEP meetings; (d) failing to ensure that outside agencies were invited to IEP meetings where transition planning would be discussed, or to ensure their attendance at such meetings; (e) failing to ensure that measurable postsecondary goals were identified as part of transition planning assessments, or that student strengths, needs or preferences were considered; (f) failing to ensure that written IEP plans indicate which transition services would be provided, or the frequency, location, and duration of such services; (g) failing to ensure that transition services that might have been identified in an IEP were actually provided; and (h) failing ensure that vocational goals were included as part of transition planning assessments, or to provide appropriate vocational education as part of the provision of transition services.  

56.


Defendants’ unlawful actions were and continue to be intentional, willful, malicious, and/or done with reckless disregard to the right of Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students to receive the special education transition planning and services to which they are entitled.

57. Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, including attorneys’ fees and costs.
/   /   /

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

Violations of the California Education Code

58.


Plaintiffs incorporate by reference as though fully set forth herein paragraphs 1 through 57 of this Complaint.

59. Under applicable provisions of the California Education Code, for any qualified student receiving special education and related services, beginning not later than the first IEP to be in effect when the student is 16 years of age, the student’s IEP must contain a statement of  appropriate measurable postsecondary goals based upon age-appropriate transition assessments related to training, education, employment, and, where appropriate, independent living skills.  Cal. Educ. Code § 56345(a)(8)(A).  The students IEP must also describe the transition services, including courses of study, needed to assist the student in reaching those goals.  Id. at § 56345(a)(8)(B).  
60. The California Education Code also requires that parents of students receiving special education and related services must be specially notified whenever the purpose of an IEP meeting will be to develop transition services.  Id. at 

§ 56341.5(b), (c).  The students themselves must be invited to any IEP meeting that discusses transition services.  Id. at § 56341.5(e).  Outside agencies that may provide services as part of a student’s transition from school to adult life must also attend IEP meetings and otherwise be involved in providing transition services.  Id. at § 56341.5(f).

61.


The California Education Code also requires that IEPs include a statement of measurable annual goals, including academic and functional goals, and a description of the manner in which the progress of the pupil toward meeting the annual goals, including postsecondary goals, will be measured.  Id. at § 56345(a)(2).  

62. The California Education Code also requires that transition services must be provided based on the academic, developmental, and functional needs of the individual child.  Id. at §§ 56341.1, 56345.1(a)(2), and that the individual student’s strengths, interests, and preferences must be considered when designing transition services.  Id. at § 56345.1(a)(2).

63. The California Education Code also requires that all IEPs must contain the projected date for beginning the provision of transition services, and the anticipated frequency, location, and duration of such services.  Id. at § 56345(a)(7).

64. The California Education Code also requires that all IEPs describing transition services must contain a statement of vocational goals, based upon transition assessments related to training, education, employment, and independent living skills.  Id. at §§ 56345(a)(8)(A), 56345.1(a).  Where required by these goals, vocational education services must be provided.  Id. at §§ 56345(a)(8)(B), 56345.1(a).  

65. Defendants have violated the California Education Code by, inter alia:  (a) failing to ensure that Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students were issued IEPs that contained statements of transition needs and services; (b) failing to invite Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students to their IEP/ITP meetings; (c) failing to properly notify parents or guardians that transition planning would be discussed at IEP/ITP meetings; (d) failing to invite outside agencies to IEP/ITP meetings where transition planning would be discussed, or to ensure their attendance at such meetings; (e) failing to identify measurable postsecondary goals or consider student strengths, needs or preferences; (f) failing to indicate which transition services would be provided, or the frequency, location, and duration of such services; (g) failing to actually provide transition services even where they might be identified in an ITP; and (h) failing to include vocational goals or provide appropriate vocational education.  

66. Defendants’ unlawful actions were and continue to be intentional, willful, malicious, and/or done with reckless disregard to the right of Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students to be free from discrimination based on disability.

67. Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, including attorneys’ fees and costs.
THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

Disability-Based Discrimination in Violation of

Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990

68.


Plaintiffs incorporate by reference as though fully set forth herein paragraphs 1 through 67 of this Complaint.

69.


Title II of the ADA provides that “no qualified individual with a disability shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subjected to discrimination by any such entity.”  42 U.S.C. § 12132.  In providing any aid, benefit or service, a public entity “may not . . . [d]eny a qualified individual with a disability the opportunity to participate in or benefit from the aid, benefit or service,” “[a]fford a qualified individual with a disability an opportunity to participate in or benefit from the aid, benefit, or service that is not equal to that afforded others,” “[p]rovide a qualified individual with a disability with an aid, benefit, or service that is not as effective in affording equal opportunity . . . as that provided to others,” or “[o]therwise limit a qualified individual with a disability in the enjoyment of any right, privilege, advantage, or opportunity enjoyed by others[.]”  28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(1)(i), (ii), (iii), (vi).  

70.


Further, “[a] public entity may not . . . utilize criteria or methods of administration . . . [t]hat have the effect of subjecting qualified individuals with disabilities to discrimination on the basis of disability[.]”  28 C.F.R. 

§ 35.130(b)(3)(i).  Nor may a public entity “impose or apply eligibility criteria that screen out or tend to screen out an individual with a disability or any class of individuals with disabilities from fully and equally enjoying any service, program, or activity, unless such criteria can be shown to be necessary[.]”  28 C.F.R. 

§ 35.130(b)(8).  A public entity must “make reasonable modifications in policies, practices, or procedures when the modifications are necessary to avoid discrimination on the basis of disability, unless the public entity can demonstrate that making the modifications would fundamentally alter the nature of the service, program, or activity.”  28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(7).  Finally, “[a] public entity shall administer services, programs, and activities in the most integrated setting appropriate to the needs of qualified individuals with disabilities.”  28 C.F.R. 

§ 35.130(d).  

71.


Defendants have violated the ADA and its regulations by, inter alia:  (a) denying Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students the opportunities and benefits of the programs, services, and activities to which they otherwise might be entitled as part of the provision of appropriate transition or vocational services; (b) denying Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students equal and/or equally effective access to vocational, educational, employment, recreational, and other opportunities, including transportation, physical education, drivers education, counseling and guidance, psychological services, parent counseling and training, health and nursing services, social worker services, vocational education and career development, and recreation services, on the basis of disability; (c) utilizing policies and practices that have a disparate impact on, and which screen out or tend to screen out, Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students from participation in programs, services, and activities; (d) utilizing methods of administration that have the effect of discriminating against Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students; (e) failing to make reasonable modifications in policies, practices, or procedures when the modifications are necessary to avoid discriminating against Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students; (f) failing to take prompt and equitable steps to remedy their discriminatory conduct; and (h) by otherwise segregating, excluding, and discriminating against Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students.

72.


Defendants’ unlawful actions were and continue to be intentional, willful, malicious, and/or done with reckless disregard to the right of Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students to be free from discrimination based on disability.

73.


Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, including attorneys’ fees and costs. 
FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Disability-Based Discrimination in Violation of

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973
74.


Plaintiffs incorporate by reference as though fully set forth herein paragraphs 1 through 73 of this Complaint.  

75.


Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act states that “[n]o otherwise qualified individual with a disability . . . shall, solely by reason of her or his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance.”  29 U.S.C. § 794(a).  

76.


As detailed herein, the Defendants have violated Section 504 and its regulations by unnecessarily segregating and discriminating against Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students, and by systemically excluding Plaintiffs and other students from a broad range of basic vocational, educational, employment, recreational, and other programs, including transportation, physical education, drivers education, counseling and guidance, psychological services, parent counseling and training, health and nursing services, social worker services, vocational education and career development, and recreation services, on the basis of disability.  

77.


Defendants’ unlawful actions were and continue to be intentional, willful, malicious, and/or done with reckless disregard to the right of Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students to be free from discrimination based on disability.

78. Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, including attorneys’ fees and costs.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Disability-Based Discrimination in Violation of


California Government Code § 11135

79.
Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 78, as though fully set forth herein.

80.


Defendants’ administration, supervision, and conduct of their educational programs, services, and activities are funded, in part by the State of California.  

81.


Defendants have failed to make their programs, services, and activities accessible to and usable by disabled persons in violation of California Government Code §§ 11135, et seq.
82.


Defendants’ unlawful actions were and continue to be intentional, willful, malicious, and/or done with reckless disregard to the right of Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students to be free from discrimination based on disability.

83. Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, including attorneys’ fees and costs.
/   /   /

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Disability-Based Discrimination In Violation of

California’s Unruh Civil Rights Act

California Civil Code § 51, et seq.

84. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 83, as though fully set forth herein.

85.
The Defendants, and each of them, constitutes a business 
establishment within the meaning of Civil Code sections 51, et seq.

86. Defendants have knowingly and intentionally violated the Unruh Civil Rights Act, Cal. Civ. Code §§ 51 et seq., and continue to do so, by refusing to provide Plaintiffs with programs, services, benefits, activities and opportunities which are provided to nondisabled persons.  Plaintiffs are also not provided benefits and opportunities that are not equal to, and are inferior to, the benefits and opportunities provided to non-disabled students.

87.
Defendants have committed, and continue to commit, additional violations of the Unruh Civil Rights Act in that the conduct alleged herein constitutes a violation of numerous provisions of the ADA, 42 USC §§ 12101 et seq., which is incorporated into the Unruh Civil Rights Act.  

88.


Defendants’ unlawful actions were and continue to be intentional, willful, malicious, and/or done with reckless disregard to the right of Plaintiffs and other similarly situated California students to be free from discrimination based on disability.

89. Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, including attorneys’ fees and costs.
/   /   /

/   /   /
/   /   /
DECLARATORY RELIEF ALLEGATIONS
90.


Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 89, as though fully set forth herein.

91.


A present and actual controversy exists between Plaintiffs and Defendants concerning their rights and respective duties.  Plaintiffs contend that the Defendants have violated and continue to violate their rights, and the rights of other persons similarly situated, under the IDEA, the ADA, and Section 504.  Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and thereon allege, that the Defendants deny these allegations.  Declaratory relief is therefore necessary and appropriate.

92.


Plaintiffs seek a judicial declaration of the rights and duties of the respective parties.

INJUNCTIVE RELIEF ALLEGATIONS

93.


Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 92, as though fully set forth herein.

94.


No plain adequate, or complete remedy at law is available to Plaintiffs to redress the wrongs alleged herein.

95.


If the court does not grant the injunctive relief sought herein, Plaintiffs will be irreparably harmed.

/   /   /

/   /   /

/   /   /

/   /   /

/   /   /

/   /   /

/   /   /

/   /   /

/   /   /

PRAYER FOR RELIEF


1.
For an order enjoining the Defendants from engaging in the unlawful conduct complained of herein;



2.
For an order granting such other injunctive relief as may be appropriate;



3.
For declaratory relief;



4.
For reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit, including expert fees, pursuant to 20 U.S.C. § 1415, 42 U.S.C. § 12205, 29 U.S.C. § 2617(a)(3); Cal. Civ. Code §§ 52(a), Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 1021.5, and other laws; and

5.
For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Dated:  November 30, 2006

By: ___________________________









LEWIS BOSSING










Attorney for Plaintiffs
LIST OF ADDITIONAL COUNSEL

Patricia A. Shiu, State Bar No. 104894

pshiu@las-elc.org
Lewis Bossing, State Bar No. 227492 

lbossing@las-elc.org
THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY OF SAN FRANCISCO-

EMPLOYMENT LAW CENTER

600 Harrison St., Suite 120

San Francisco, CA  94107

Telephone:  (415) 864-8848

Facsimile:  (415) 864-8199

� The citations in this Complaint to the Individuals with Disabilities in Education Act (IDEA), its implementing regulations, and the California Education Code are to the current versions of these laws, as amended in 2004 (IDEA) and 2005 (Education Code). Because the individual Plaintiffs’ IEPs described herein were issued before July 1, 2005, when the 2004 amendments to IDEA (contained in the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act, or IDEIA) took effect, the pre-July 2005 versions of the IDEA and its implementing regulations are also cited, in parentheses. 


� “Special education” is defined as specially designed instruction, provided at no cost to the parent, to meet the unique needs of a child with disabilities whose educational needs cannot be met with modification of the regular instructional program.  20 U.S.C. § 1401(29) (formerly at § 1401(25)); 34 C.F.R. § 300.39 (formerly at § 300.26); Cal. Educ. Code § 56031 .  “Related services,” required by the student in order to benefit from her special education program, might include transportation, language and speech development and remediation, audiological services, orientation and mobility instruction, adaptive physical education, physical and/or occupational therapy, vision services, specialized drivers education, counseling and guidance, psychological services, parent counseling and training, health and nursing services, social worker services, specially designed vocational education and career development, or recreation services.  20 U.S.C. § 1401(26) (formerly at § 1401(22)); 34 C.F.R. § 300.34 (formerly at § 300.24); Cal. Educ. Code § 56363.


� The IEP plan is a written plan outlining the special education and related services that each student qualifying for such services will receive.  It is developed at an IEP meeting by an IEP team:  interested persons including parents or guardians, a special education teacher, a school administrator, the student (if appropriate), a regular education teacher (if appropriate), and anyone else selected by the parent/guardian or the school district who may have knowledge or special expertise regarding the student.  20 U.S.C. §§ 1401(14) (formerly at § 1401(11)), 1414(d)(1)(B); 34 C.F.R. §§ 300.320 (formerly at § 300.347), 300.321 (formerly at § 300.344), 300.322 (formerly at § 300.345); Cal. Educ. Code § 56341.  


� “Transition services” are 


a coordinated set of activities for a child with a disability that--


(A) is designed to be within a results-oriented process, that is focused on improving the academic and functional achievement of the child with a disability to facilitate the child's movement from school to post-school activities, including post-secondary education, vocational education, integrated employment (including supported employment), continuing and adult education, adult services, independent living, or community participation;


(B) is based on the individual child's needs, taking into account the child's strengths, preferences, and interests; and


(C) includes instruction, related services, community experiences, the development of employment and other post-school adult living objectives, and, when appropriate, acquisition of daily living skills and functional vocational evaluation.


20 U.S.C. § 1401(34); see also Cal. Educ. Code § 56345.1.  Transition services should provide opportunities that maximize economic and social independence in adult life in the least restrictive environment for persons with disabilities.  Cal. Educ. Code § 56460. 


� At the time Plaintiffs’ IEPs were issued, beginning at the age of 14 a student’s IEP was to include a statement of transition service needs.  20 U.S.C. 


§ 1414(d)(1)(A)(vii) (1998); Cal Educ. Code § 56345 (1998).  Among other changes that took effect on July 1, 2005, all IEPs, “beginning not later than the first IEP to be in effect when the child is 16,” were to have included “appropriate measurable postsecondary goals” based on “transition assessments,” along with the transition services needed to assist the student in reaching these goals.  20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(VIII) (2005); Cal. Educ. Code § 56345(a)(8) (2005).  The IEPs issued to Plaintiffs and described above would have been required to meet these statutory mandates.
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